THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas for Kershaw County, South Carolina

Jeffrey M. Tzerman, Master in Equity

Appellant Case No. 2019-001269

**RECEIVED**

OCT 10 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as Owner Trustee of the Residential Credit  
Opportunities Trust V-

V,.....Respondent,

v.

Shaylyn R. Anderson; Kelsney Ridge Homeowner's Association, Inc.; SC Housing Corp.,  
Defendants, Of which Shaylyn R. Anderson is the Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

William S. Koehler  
1201 Main Street, Suite 1450  
Columbia, SC 29201  
Attorney for Respondent

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A foreclosure action was filed against, Appellant, Shaylyn R. Anderson, in the Office of the Master In Equity Court for Kershaw County. The required Notice of Right to Foreclosure Intervention was filed on September 28, 2018. The Appellant accepted the right and returned the information to the foreclosing law firm as outlined in the notice. The appellant entered into lost mitigation negotiations with the respondent. The appellant wanted desperately to keep her home. The appellant was willing to agree to whatever it took to keep her home. Unfortunately, the appellant agreed to a modification that increased the interest rate and payment. The lost mitigation offered by the respondent was contrary to the purpose of lost mitigation.

## FACTS

Respondent, Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as Owner Trustee of the Residential Credit Opportunities Trust VV, filed a foreclosure action on appellant in the Court of Common Pleas for Kershaw County on August 25, 2018. The Notice of the Right to Foreclosure Intervention was filed on the same day. Appellant responded to the Notice of Foreclosure Intervention and entered into the Foreclosure Intervention process. A modification agreement was entered into by the Respondent and the appellant. Prior to the modification, the appellant's payment was \$1,661.00 per month. After the modification, the appellant's payment was \$1,800.00 per month.

Subsequently, the respondent reinstated the foreclosure process. Foreclosure intervention stays the foreclosure process. Therefore, the appellant had no notice of the continuation of the foreclosure proceeding and did not receive any notice from the respondent until after the foreclosure sale. The Master In Equity issued a Judgment of Foreclosure and sale pursuant to a hearing held on June 4, 2019 on June 14, 2019. Pursuant to the order the property was sold by the Master in Equity on July 1, 2019.

The respondent was able to file a notice of intent to foreclose prior to the record transfer of the property by the Kershaw County Master In Equity.

## ARGUMENT

The Master In Equity issued a Judgment of Foreclosure and sale pursuant to a hearing held on June 4, 2019 on June 14, 2019 and the subsequent sale of July 1, 2019. The sale represented a clear violation of the respondent's constitution right to due process. Sale was a taking of the appellant's property without due process of law. Appellant had no knowledge of the hearing for which the trial court ordered the sale of the appellant's property.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina, pursuant to an administrative order issued by Chief Justice Jean H. Toal in *Re to Mortgage Foreclosure Actions in South Carolina* on May 2, 2011:

On May 22, 2009, I issued an Administrative Order (Order No. 2009-05-22-01) applicable to mortgage foreclosure actions subject to the Home Affordable Modification Program ("HMP") instituted by the United States Treasury Department ("Treasury"). The program applied to residential loans owned, securitized or guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac).

Subsequently, Treasury issued, by directive, additional guidance to servicers for adoption and implementation of the HMP for residential mortgage loans that are not owned, securitized or guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. However, the HMP is only applicable to such loans if the lender or servicer has agreed to participate in the HMP. Not all lenders or servicers have so agreed.

Since imposition of my prior order, the number of foreclosure actions filed in this State has continued to increase. The trial courts having jurisdiction over such actions have reported to this Court difficulty in making final disposition of these actions as a result of failed or delayed loss mitigation efforts between lender-servicers and mortgagor-debtors. As a result, the number of unresolved foreclosure actions has increased, with a resulting burden on the resources of the Court before which the action is pending.

The courts have reported that these failures are the result of a breakdown of loss mitigation efforts that all parties find to be in their best interests, if possible. The trial courts report that such breakdowns are largely the result of difficulty in communication between lender-servicers and debtors, and the fact that foreclosure actions are proceeding to conclusion without regard to ongoing loss mitigation efforts by the parties.

I further take judicial notice of the actions of courts in other jurisdictions describing a similar breakdown in the efforts of parties to foreclosure actions to reach a resolution of defaults in payment of mortgage loans.

Therefore, based on the foregoing, and in order to insure that eligible homeowners and lender-servicers have been afforded the benefits of loan modification or other loss mitigation where possible, and to insure that the procedures for handling issues relating to such efforts are handled uniformly throughout the State, so that mortgage foreclosure actions are not unnecessarily dismissed, delayed or inappropriately concluded while loan modification or other loss mitigation efforts are being pursued, it is ordered as follows:

A. Definitions:

For the purposes of this administrative order, the following definitions shall apply:

- (1) "Mortgagor" shall include every owner, mortgagor, and debtor under the note and mortgage at issue.
- (2) "Mortgagee" shall include the owner and holder of the note and mortgage, any party acting on behalf of the owner and holder of the note and mortgage for the purpose of receiving payments, dealing with the mortgagor, or administering the loan evidenced by the note and mortgage, and any party seeking foreclosure of the subject mortgage, or otherwise acting as the agent of the owner and holder of the note in connection with the loan or the foreclosure of the note and mortgage, except for the mortgagee's attorney.
- (3) "Owner-Occupied dwelling" is defined as mortgaged real property that is the principal residence of any mortgagor.
- (4) "Court" shall include any judicial officer having jurisdiction over the foreclosure action, including any Circuit Court Judge, Master-In-Equity or Special Referee.
- (5) "Foreclosure intervention" shall include any policy, process or procedure employed by a Mortgagee for the purpose of seeking a resolution of a foreclosure action by loan modification or other means of loss mitigation.

**B. Procedure in Foreclosure Actions:**

The terms and conditions of this order shall apply to all mortgage foreclosure proceedings concerning Owner-Occupied dwellings in this State.

(1) Actions pending on May 9, 2011.

In all mortgage foreclosure actions pending on May 9, 2011, before any merits hearing in the case, or if an order of foreclosure has been entered, before any foreclosure sale, the Mortgagee shall, through its attorney of record, file with the court and serve upon every Mortgagor a notice of the Mortgagor's right to foreclosure intervention. All proceedings in the foreclosure action shall be stayed until completion of such foreclosure intervention.

No foreclosure hearing or foreclosure sale may be held in the foreclosure action until the Mortgagee's attorney certifies the following:

- (a) that the Mortgagor has been served with a notice of the Mortgagor's right to foreclosure intervention for the purpose of seeking a resolution of the foreclosure action by loan modification or other means of loss mitigation;

(b) that the Mortgagee, or its designated agent, has received and examined all documents and records required to be submitted by the Mortgagor to evaluate eligibility for foreclosure intervention;

(c) that the Mortgagor has been afforded a full and fair opportunity to submit any other information or data pertaining to the Mortgagor's loan or personal circumstances for consideration by the Mortgagee;

(d) that after completion of the foreclosure intervention process, the Mortgagor does not qualify for loan modification or other means of loss mitigation, in accordance with any standards, rules or guidelines applicable to the mortgage loan, and the parties have been unable to reach any other agreement concerning the foreclosure process; and,

(e) that notice of the denial of loan modification or other means of loss mitigation has been served on the Mortgagor by mailing such notice to all known addresses of the Mortgagor; provided, that such notice shall also state that the Mortgagor has 30 days from the date of mailing of notice of denial of relief to file and serve an answer or other response to the Mortgagee's summons and complaint.

If within thirty days after having been served with notice of the Mortgagor's rights, the Mortgagor has failed, refused, or voluntarily elected not to participate in any foreclosure intervention process, the Mortgagee, through its attorney, shall certify that fact to the Court, and the foreclosure action may proceed.

## (2) Actions filed after May 9, 2011.

In all mortgage foreclosure actions filed after May 9, 2011, the Mortgagee's attorney shall serve on the Mortgagor, along with the summons and complaint, a notice of the Mortgagor's right to foreclosure intervention.

No foreclosure hearing may be held in the foreclosure action until the Mortgagee's attorney certifies that the Mortgagee has complied with the requirements of paragraphs B (1) (a) through (e) above.

If within thirty days after having been served with notice of the Mortgagor's rights, the Mortgagor has failed, refused, or voluntarily elected not to participate in any foreclosure intervention process, the Mortgagee, through its attorney, shall certify that fact to the Court, and the foreclosure action may proceed.

## C. General Conditions.

Throughout the foreclosure intervention process and the foreclosure action, the Mortgagee shall communicate with and otherwise deal with the Mortgagor through the Mortgagee's attorney, and the Mortgagor shall have the right to deal with the Mortgagee through the Mortgagee's attorney. This includes, without limitation, submission of all required information, negotiations, and consummation of any loan modification or other loss mitigation agreement. If the Mortgagor is represented by an attorney, then the Mortgagee shall communicate with and otherwise deal with the Mortgagor through the Mortgagor's attorney.

No document, statement or evidence of any kind shared, released or exchanged exclusively for purposes of foreclosure intervention pursuant to this order shall be admissible as evidence in any subsequent proceeding. The provisions of Rule 8 of the Court Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules ("ADR Rules") shall apply to all such documents, statements or evidence, as well as to all discussions, disclosures and negotiations occurring in any foreclosure intervention process.

A Mortgagee's attorney, by proceeding with a foreclosure, represents to the Court that the Mortgagee has fully complied with all provisions of this Order.

In the event that the Mortgagor and Mortgagee agree on any loan modification or other loss mitigation plan ("Agreement"), such Agreement shall be reduced to writing, executed by the Mortgagor and Mortgagee, and served on all parties in the case. Any pending case shall be stayed, and no hearing or foreclosure sale held for 90 days following the entry of any Agreement, unless the Mortgagor shall not comply with the terms of the Agreement.

Upon any failure by Mortgagor to comply with the terms of the Agreement before the expiration of 90 days from the date of the Agreement, the Mortgagee, through its attorney, shall file and serve on all parties a "Notice of Breach of Agreement". Upon filing and service of such notice, the foreclosure action may proceed in the ordinary course.

If the Mortgagor shall be in compliance with the terms of the Agreement after 90 days, the Mortgagee's attorney shall promptly file a notice of dismissal of the action without prejudice, and the case will be dismissed. Such notice of dismissal shall be served on all parties to the action.

The Court having jurisdiction over the foreclosure action shall hear and determine any dispute concerning any party's compliance with this order, including without limitation, the failure of any party to act in good faith in complying with the terms of this order. In the event the Court determines that any party to the foreclosure action, or their acting agent, has failed to comply

with the terms of this order, or has not attempted to reach an agreement for foreclosure intervention in good faith, the Court may, in its discretion, impose such sanctions as it determines to be reasonable and just under the circumstances, including without limitation, the assessment of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs against the culpable party.

The Court having jurisdiction over the action shall have the authority, and may in its discretion, order the parties to submit to mediation. In such event, the mediation shall proceed in accordance with the ADR Rules.

This order remains in effect unless amended or rescinded by the Chief Justice.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

s/Jean H. Toal  
Jean H. Toal  
Chief Justice of South Carolina

Columbia, South Carolina  
May 2, 2011

The Respondent failed to offer reasonable lost mitigation, as required by the above-referenced order. The appellant entered into a modification with the respondent. The modification agreement entered into by the Appellant resulted in the Appellant paying a higher payment after the lost mitigation process. Prior to the modification, the appellant's payment was \$1,661.00 per month. After the modification, the appellant's payment was \$1,800.00 per month. **Loss mitigation**" is what the mortgage-servicing industry calls the process where borrowers and their loan servicer work together to avoid a foreclosure. The term "**loss mitigation**" refers to a loan servicer's duty to **mitigate** or lessen the **loss** to the investor (the loan owner) resulting from the borrower's default. In re Johnson D. Koola, C/A No. 18-01373-JW, a Chapter 13 order of the United States Bankruptcy for The District of South Carolina, ruled that Reasonable Lost Mitigation must be offered the party being foreclosed. Although the ruling did not require lost mitigation in the case before the bankruptcy court, the acknowledged the requirement of reasonable lost mitigation. The court in that case concluded that the debtor still had an opportunity to get reasonable lost mitigation.

Additionally, federal law requires lost mitigation as follows:

### **§ 1024.41 Loss mitigation procedures.**

**(a) Enforcement and limitations.** A borrower may enforce the provisions of this section pursuant to section 6(f) of RESPA (12 U.S.C. 2605(f)). Nothing in § 1024.41 imposes a duty on a servicer to provide any borrower with any specific loss mitigation option. Nothing in § 1024.41 should be construed to create a right for a borrower to enforce the terms of any

agreement between a servicer and the owner or assignee of a mortgage loan, including with respect to the evaluation for, or offer of, any loss mitigation option or to eliminate any such right that may exist pursuant to applicable law.