THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Honorable Jeffrey M. Tzerman, Master in Equity

**RECEIVED**

DEC 04 2019

**SC Court of Appeals**

Case No. 2018CP2800822

Appellate Case No. 2019-001269

Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as Owner Trustee of the Residential Credit Opportunities Trust V-C.....Respondent

v.

Shaylyn R. Anderson; Kelsney Ridge Homeowner's Association, Inc.; SC Housing Corp., Defendants

Of Whom Shaylyn R. Anderson is the.....Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Albertelli Law

William S. Koehler  
1201 Main St, Suite 1450  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 828-0880  
Attorneys for Respondent

December 2, 2019

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

After a default hearing the Master in Equity entered an order foreclosing on a note that was secured by a mortgage on Appellant's property. In the Master's findings, he held that Respondent complied with the South Carolina Supreme Court's Administrative Order 2011-05-22-01. Did the Master in Equity err in finding that Respondent complied with that Administrative Order?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a foreclosure of a Note and Mortgage given by Appellant Shaylyn R. Anderson to Respondent's predecessor on May 4, 2017 (Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale, Pp. 1-2). Respondent's predecessor initiated the foreclosure action with the filing of a Summons, Complaint, Lis Pendens and Notice of Right to Foreclosure Intervention on September 25, 2018 (Id., P. 1). At the time of the filing of the Complaint the Note and Mortgage were delinquent and due for the payment due April 1, 2018 and all payments due thereafter (Id. P. 5).

On September 28, 2018 Appellant was personally served with the Summons, Complaint, Lis Pendens and Notice of Right to Foreclosure Intervention (Affidavit of Service). Appellant was served at the property subject to the Mortgage and this action, 26 Saughtree Lane West, Elgin, SC (Id.). Appellant did not answer the Complaint, and Plaintiff filed a Certificate of Default on January 4, 2019 (Certificate of Default). On January 4, 2019 Plaintiff filed a Certificate of Exemption from Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01 stating that Appellant had "been served with the required Notice of Intervention ... and had failed, refused or voluntarily elected not to participate ... by failing to respond to Plaintiff or Plaintiff's counsel" (Certificate of Exemption).

The case was referred to The Honorable Jeffrey M. Tzerman as Master in Equity for Kershaw County by order dated January 7, 2019 (Order of Reference). A hearing was set for June 4, 2019. A Notice of Final Hearing was served on Appellant by U.S. Mail on May 24, 2019 (Notice of Hearing).

Appellant did not appear at the hearing, and the Court entered a Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale ("Judgment") on June 4, 2019 (Judgment). The Judgment found, *inter alia*, Respondent has fully complied with Supreme Court Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01 (Judgment p. 2, ¶ 7); Appellant received Notice of Hearing (Judgment, P. 2, ¶ 9); Payment due under the Note was not

made, and the loan was due for the April 1, 2018 payment and all subsequent payments (Judgment, Pp. 4-5, ¶ 17, 19).

On June 4, 2019 the Master in Equity also executed a Notice of Sale directing the property be sold on July 1, 2019 (Notice of Sale). The Notice of Sale was published in the Chronicle-Independent on June 14, June 21 and June 28, 2019 (Affidavit of Publication). The property was sold on July 1, 2019, and Respondent was the high bidder.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A foreclosure action sounds in equity. Wells Fargo Bank, NA v. Turner, 378 S.C. 147, 150, 662 S.E.2d 424, 425 (Ct. App. 2008). In such cases, this Court reviews the decision below based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc., 301 S.C. 229, 237, 391 S.E.2d 538, 543 (1989). Despite this latitude, the appellate court should "not disregard the findings of the Master, who saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to evaluate their credibility." Id.

On appeal, Appellant bears the burden of proving that the Master's findings were in error. Arrow Bonding Co. v. Warren, 399 S.C. 603, 607, 732 S.E.2d 622, 624 (2012)

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. NO ISSUES REGARDING THE JUDGMENT OF FORECLOSURE AND SALE WERE PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW**

Appellant was served with the Notice of Hearing by mail on May 24, 2019. The Notice of Hearing was mailed to Appellant at the subject property, which was the same location she had been personally served with the Summons, Complaint and Notice of Foreclosure Intervention and the same address she has used in correspondence with this Court. "Rule 5(b)(1) SCRPC provides in pertinent part that where service is required upon a party, it shall be made by ... mailing it to

him at his last known address..." NCNB S.C. v. Floyd, 303 S.C. 261, 264, 399 S.E.2d 794, 796 (Ct. App. 1990) (*Internal quotation marks omitted*). Rule 5(b)(1) further provides "Service by mail is completed upon mailing" Rule 5, SCRCF.

Despite being served with notice of the foreclosure hearing, Appellant chose not to attend. Accordingly, Appellant did not raise any arguments or objections, so those issues are not preserved for review. "It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved." Buist v. Buist, 410 S.C. 569, 574, 766 S.E.2d 381, 383 (2014) *Citing* Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006).

## II. APPELLANT CANNOT INTRODUCE EVIDENCE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL

In Appellant's Designation of Matter she identifies an alleged Loan Modification Agreement. This document was never provided to the trial court. "The Record shall not, however, include matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal." SCACR 210

## III. APPELLANT CANNOT CARRY HER BURDEN SINCE THE ONLY EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD IS CLEAR THAT RESPONDENT COMPLIED WITH ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER 2011-05-22-01

If the Court is inclined to conduct an evidentiary review, the Appellant cannot carry her burden because the only items in the record support the Master's conclusion that Respondent complied with Administrative Order 2011-05-22-01 (Judgment P. 2, ¶ 7).

The Administrative Order states "the Mortgagee's attorney shall serve on the Mortgagor, along with the summons and complaint, a notice of the Mortgagor's right to foreclosure intervention." Respondent did this as evidenced by the Affidavit of Service on Appellant. The Administrative Order continues, in relevant part "If within thirty days after having been served

with notice of the Mortgagor's rights, the Mortgagor has failed, refused, or voluntarily elected not to participate in any foreclosure intervention process, the Mortgagee, through its attorney, shall certify that fact to the Court, and the foreclosure action may proceed." Respondent certified this to the Court, through counsel, as required on January 4, 2019.

This is the entirety of the evidence available, and the Master ruled correctly.

**CONCLUSION**

The Court should affirm the Master in Equity's Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale because Respondent fully complied with the 2011 Administrative order, because all of the evidence before the Master in Equity supported his findings and because no legal or factual issues were raised by Appellant despite her receiving Notice of the Hearing. The Court should affirm for any or all of these reasons.